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JUDGMENT OF GOULD, J.A.

B This is an appeal from a judgment of the Bupreme
colibt of ¥1ji 4f an dction in which the appellant was
~ plafntirt; the firbt respondent wae the defendant and the
v BBBbrid FeBpshds8ht was third party, arising out of a dis~
. guﬁe Felatihg tb leabehold 1aha described 88 Allotment

"~ B 8f Badtient 3 bf Raki Raki Township., It will be con-
VvEfilenty I thihk; to réfer to the parties by théir names.

' Ih 1957 Mitlal was thé lessee of Allotments 7
and 8 of Bectlon 3 and on the 2bth February; 1957, he
apbééd 1h writing to sell Allotmént 7 to Ram Kigsun, the

. BAl& BBifig dBhpleted by registrativn of a subleabe to
Rafl k186Ufc  Thé hgreefent of theé 20th February, in
WH1BH the pabtiey were delcribed as' "vendor" dnd
"pikthaBer" withbubt reférence to agsighs o pergondl re-
prafentatives; bohtainid the following claube:

7. The vendor undertakes not to sell allot-
fletit ho: B8 being pdrt of lease no. 21087
which in turh 18 part of Native Lease No.
3238 to ahyone other than the purchaser
ahd shall give the purchaser right to
first refusal," !

. In Match; 1963, Mitlal mortgsaged Allotment 8 to
orid Bhilu Bhankar and the mortgage was duly registered.
By Auguat, 1963, Shiu Shankar was threatening %o etercise
HiB po#ér 6f kalé under the mortgage ahd advertised in
4 néwdBhbed lhviting offers; to be redeived up tb ‘the
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318t August, 1963, During the argument on appeal coun3gl
for Ram Kissunh called attention to a passage in hls evid-
ence in which he denied that he had seen this advertisc-
ment. In order to avoid a forced sale Mitlal sought out
FTong Lee and offered Allotment 8 to him for sale. They
reached agreement and on the 30th Aupust, 1963, they
slgned a Bale Note prepared by a solicitor, Mr. A.H.

8ahu Khan, The price was £1,400 which was to be
deposited with Mr. Sahu Khan frorthwi th upon the exccu-
tion thercof to be held on trust pending the nccessary
consentd being obtained". Mitlal undertook to apply for
the consent of the Director of Lands and the agreement
‘was fhde 'Bubgect to that consent. The learned Chief
Justiee inh his judgment held that the reference to the
Director of Lands was a mistake and that the appropriatc
authority was the Native Land Trust Board the consent of
which was stibsequently given; as will appear. No ques-
tiont on this aspcct of the matter ariscs on the appcal
and it will not be necessary to refer to it again.

~ On the 2nd September, 1963, Mr. V.R, Sharma,
the &olicitor who had drawn up the agrecment of Febru-
arys 1957, wrote on Ram Kissun's bchalf to Mitlal point-
ing out that any contemplated sale to Fong Lce was in
contravertion of clause 7 of that agrecment and threaten-
ing proceedings, On the 3rd September, 1963, Fong Lee's
Bon journeyed to Buva, lodged a cavcat to protect Fong
Lec'svinterest under the agreement of the 2nd September,
and obtained the consent of the Native Land Trust Board
in writing., On the ljth September Mr. V,R. Sharma
lodged a caveat on behalf of Ram Kissun.

4 J'ong, Leec commenced procccedings in the Supreme
Court in October, 1963, for spccific performaonce of his
agreement with Mitlal (or damages in the alternative) -
later Ram Kisbun was joined on his own application,
clalming to restrain the contract of the 2nd Scptember
from bding carricd into effect and claiming speocific
performance of clause 7 of the agrcement of Fcbruary,

- 1957. At the conclusion of the proceedings the learnecd

- Chicf Justicd made an order to the following cffect,

- THere wag an injunction restraining Mitlsl from complet-
ihg the Bale to Fong Lee without first offering it to
Ram Kissuh nt £1,400. Thkec months (or such extended
period &8 the parties might ogrece) was allowed for offer
aéceptance hnd complctioh of the sale to Ram Kissun,

If that #hle was duly completed Fong Lec could prove
his damages; 1f it was not, he could ask for specific
performance; From that judgmen Fong Lee has brought
the present appeal, in which all three parties werc re-
presented by counsel, but counse. for Mitlal took no
bart in the argument and stated shat his client would

. dblde by sBuch order am thec Court night makec.

_ In arriving at hisg decision the lecarned Chicf
Justice considerecd & number of metiers. Ho hold, first,
that clause 7 of the agrecment of February, 1957, read
as a wholec, and construed ut res magis valcat quam pecreat
was not void for uncertainty but grented a right of pre-~
emption or first rcfusal being "inteaded to bind Mitlal,
in the event of his receiving en offer for the property
from a third party, to offer it to tre 2nd defendant, at
the same price". I would interpolate that I take it to
be implied that the offcer from the 3ri party must be one
which Mitlal was preparecd to accept. That was, in the
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' G{ew“of the learned Chief Justice, cnough to overcomc the

dlfficulty of the ascertainment of the purchase price.

.Becondly, he found that thc rule agalnst pcrpet-

;,uities prescntcd no impediment to a findin; that clause 7

of . the agreement of February,. 1957, was cnforceable as
Mitlal was an immediately contracting party to a contraC1

taklng effect in personam - 1t was immatcrial in those

‘circumstances whether an interest in land had passed or
‘not
. Next, the learned Chief Justice referred to an

1argument that as Rem Kissun acquired hie right or inter-
. ebt.first, 1t prevailed over the interest of Fong Lec.

He said:

..+ M"In my ¥lew the maxim has no application.
: Assnming that the 2nd defendant acquired..

n ;ﬁqhhk - an interest in the property undep the ci

contract of 1957, and not a mere equity, -
this 18 not a case of ecquitable inferecsts
-gompeting for priority. And if he acquired
but a mere equity, it is not a case of the
plointiff being a purchaser for valuc of an
equitable interest without noticc of the
equity."

L At that stage the learned Chief Justice summariz--
" 6d the position he had arrived at and held that. a valid

right of pre-emption or 'first refusal' wag vested in Ram
Kiegsun; and at the Same time Fong Lee had a valid contract
binding Mitlal :

. thé learned Chief Justice next considered pass-
ageé from the Judgments in Manchester Ship Canal Company
Vﬁ,Maﬁchesﬁor Racecourse Company (1900) 2 Ch, 352, and on
apptal (1501Y 2 Ch. 374 . He conciuded that, whilec he
wal satisfled that Fong Lee, when he entercd into his
afiteement, had no knowledge of the contents of the agree-
meht of Pebruary, 1957, that did not disentitle Ram Kissun
Trom having enforced the ecxpress negative provision con-
taihed in clouse 7; although it was to the detriment of

| Fonp - Lee al an innocent thlrd party. T

A”'Bection 28 bof the Land

The learned Ghief Justice,; in his flnal order
which I have summarized enrlier, devised a method of giv-
ihg effect to the view set out in thec last paragraph;
blit béfore doilng sc he Gorsidered an argumcht that Fong
Leé should have priority because Ram Kissun had failed to
register a cdaveat before Fong Lec entercd into hig agree-
mehnt; ~ Hi#8 view; as sxpresscd in the judgment,; was that

%Trﬂnsfer and Registration) Ordin-
ance (Cap: 136) had n> relevancé "if the case 1s viewed,
ag I think it substantially ought to be viewed, as a claim
by Ram Kissun to restrain Mitlal from carrying into execu~
tion his salc to the plaintiff in breach of the right of
pre-emptioh ' That argument failed,

I have set out in summary the points whjoh werc

p'considered and decided by the learned Chief Justice, uc

they have all beeh put in iosue on the appeal by Mr. Saku
Khan,; couhsel for Fong Lee. I will take the questions,
go far as I am able, in the same order,
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' I respectfilly agree with the intcrpretation
placed by the learned Chief Juasticg on c¢lause 7 of the
sgreement of Fgbruary, 1957. Read as a whole it can only
have been intended to crecate a right of pre-emption. This
intcrprétation was in fact not challenged on the appeal,
but 1t was submitted that the clause could not be enforc-
ed by reason of the absence of an g¢ssential term - the
price ~ either specifically or by the provision of machin-
ery for its ascertainment. Counsel rclied upon cases
relating to agreements for the sale of land, and though
in my opinion an agreement giving a right of pre-empti~m
is not an dgreement for the salec of land, it 1s closel
allied thereto; and in any cvent under the gencral law
of contract if there is no way of supplying an omitted
and essential term; it is an incomplete contract.

The learned Chief Justice quoted the following
passage from the Judgment of Farwell, J. in first instance
in Manchester Ship Canal Company v. Manchester Racecourse
Company (supra) at p. 363:

"In this case the price is ascertainable by
the fact that 1t is to be the same as that
offered by any other company or person,'

That passage indicated the learned Chief Justice's own
view and was guoted by him as lending it a measure of
support, That is because the contract before Farwell, J.
had beeh given statutory validity and shortly before the
passage quoted, he had said:

"1, therefore, find myself in this position,
I have an agreement which the Legislature
hag declared valid, and I have to construc
it, In so doing I must avoid, of course,
comihg to any conclusion which would render
1t vold for uncertainty. I must, therec-
fore,; find, if possible, a meaning for the
words used;"

Whether Parwell, J. would havc expressed the some view on
the guestion of price in the absence of such statutory
validity cannot of course be ascertained: but the method
of ascegtaining the price which he indlcated is a reason-
hble one.

In the case of Ryan v, Thomas (1911) 55 §.J. 364
however; Warrington J. distingyished the Manchecster Canal
gase oh the ground of the statutory validity which the
bgreemgnt 1h that cage enjoyed. The report of Ryan v.
THomas in the Solicitors' Journal (which appears to be
the only report available) is, unfortunately, brief ar
the complete facts are difficult to ascertain. The

laintiffs sought to set aside a lease to one Thomas
%acting on behalf of a defendant, Manley) on the ground
of fraud. The learncd judge held that there waer fraud
and proceeded to examine a defznce by Manley that the
plaintiffs were not entitled to relief becausc they were
in breach of an obligation to him. The obligation arose
out of an agreement made some four years earlier "“to give
the defendant Manley the 'first option'! of purchasing any
premises that might be designated for *he purpose of a
dairy on the south side of the road"; +%he plaintiffs
were the owners of land on the south slce of the road.
There were attempts to put the option into morc specific
terms but they fell through. The report of the judgmeént
reads as follows:—~
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NIV . “Warrington J. rcviewed the facts and held
R thot the lease had becn . obtained by fraud.
T The .question now to be declded, hig Lord-
ship continued, is whethor the "words of the
agrecment of thc 19th September 14906 con-
gtitute a contrac The subsequent state-
ments of the pﬂrtico contained in the
correspondence and draft conveyances throw
no 1light on; and have nothing to do with‘
the original agreement. The plainﬁiffs
case 1s that there was no contract, as the
parties never camec to tcrms as to thc con-
ditions of the option; the defendarits'
case 1g that the agrecement really amounts to
this, that the plaintiff is to give us first
refugal of the premiscs at a fair ond reason-
gble price; or at a price that ﬂnother has
offered, or at a price he is willing to take
from anothcr purchﬂser In the absence of
authority I should have held that such an
tgreement was too uncertain for any court to
enforce, Even now the defendant will not
plh himself down to any one view h8 to the
meaning of the option, But it 15 alleged
on the defendants' behalf that the casc is
decided by authority, and that the meaning
. of such an cxpression 1s that you shall at
all events make a falr and reasonable offer
.to the person in whose favour the opticn has
R been granted. The case cited to this effect
“,-t. " ... 1ls Manchester Ship Canal C. v, Manchester
Racecourse Co, (1900 2 Ch. 352) confirmed in
the court of appeal (1901 2 Ch. 37). In this
cese an agreement between the two companies
was scheduled to the Act of Parliament in-
corporating the plaintiff company; and the
case wholly turned upon the fact that the
. agreement was equivalent to a statute, This
15 made perfectly plain in the judgment of
Farwell, J,; who, dealing with the guestion
whether the ﬂgrccmont could be void for un-
certainty said, 'If the Legislaturec has de-
clared the contract valid, how can I declare
1t void?... Unlcss.the words were so absolute-
1y senseless that I could do nothing at all
with them I should be bound to find some mcan-
ing; and not to declare them void for uncer-
tainty!. And, again P. 363; !'I must find,
if possible; a mcaning for the words used'.
In the court of appecal the casc was dcalt
with on the same footing., Now, in dcaling
with an drdinary contract, thc court is not
oind to find some meaning for the words
uged. It 18 not my business to expand the
words of a contract; if a contract does not
contain Gertain stipulations it is nob for
me to make them. I must let the actual
words stand.  The casce cited has no bear:-
ing on the casc before me. Here peopie
have purported to come to an agreemecnt: but,
in fact, have not come to ény agreement at
all; bocwuse the tcrms of the agreement are
not expressed. The words 'first option' by
themselves have no meaning; there is no
mention of price, or time, or anything else,
I hold that there was no contract, and there-
fore the defence fails, and the plaintiff
is entitled to have the lease set aside,"
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The distinction made there on the basis of st "u-

tory validity is, of course, a perfectly proper one and
the same distinction was referred to in the present case
in the judgment of the learned Chief Justice. The caBe
of Ryan v. Thomas was not mentioned by counsel either in
thé Bupteme Court or on the appeal, and while the agree-~
nent under consideration there bears some measure of re-
semblance to the present one, each case must be examined
onn its own merites. It will be helpful, I think, to look
at the Judgment of the court of appeal in the Manchester
Cangl cade in some detail, '

. The judgment (delivercd by Vaughan Williams
1;J.) dld not deal with the question of uncertainty
uritil a late stage and then merely by the observation
that for the reasons given by Farwell J. every clause
had statutory validity and no objection could be taken
on that score: The court did not indidate, in dealing
with the other aspects of the case, whether in any parti-
culatr respect it might in other circumstances have con-
sidered that an "uncertainty' argument would have pre-
vailed; and indeed the guestion appears not to have re-
deived nmuch attention in the argumente for the two
dppellants as reported. The clause which had to be
gonstrued; so far as material, was -

"If ahd whenever the lands .... shall cease
to be used a8 a racecourse .... or should
the lands :... be at any time proposed to
bé used for dock purposes, then ... the
racecourse company shall give to the canal
company the first refusal of the .,. lands."

THeir Lordships said that the lands did not secem to have
cedbed to be used as a racecourse and had therefore to
declde what was meant by "proposed to be uged for dock
purposges", On the gquestion of first refusal their Lord-
gships sdld, at pp. L6-7 :

"There appear to be two possible meanings
of the words 'first refusal'; one is that
they mean the opportunity of refusing a
'falr and reasonable offer! by the race-
course company to sell the lands en bloc
to the canal company; the other is that
they mean the opportunity of refusing the
land at a price acceptable to the race-
course company offered by - some person other
than the canal company, which is what we
understand by the term 'right of pre-
emption' "

1t was the second of these two meanings which commende~
itself to Farwell J. The Court of Appea next consi .-
ed the case in the 1ight of the first of their two alter-
natives as being the view most favourable to the defen-
dants, and found that no fair and reasonable offer had

been made. Then follows a passage which appears to me

to expreds the more basic view of the court. It is at p.U8:

"We think that the vcry words 'first refusal'
in clause 3 import that the price at which
the racecourse company give th¢ canal company
the 'first refusal' is a price at which the
racecourse company will offcr the land to
other would-be buyers in the event of the
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"refusal of the canal company to buy at
that price. If there is no person nego-
tiating & purchase it may not be easy to
prove that the land offered to the canal
company 1s above the price which the race-
course company are willing to take from
persons other than the canal company; but
whenever thilis can be proved it seems to me
that there is a clear infraction of the

- right of pre-emption given to the canal

company by clause 3. In the present
cade however there is no difficulty of
proof, !

T In the Bame way there was no difficulty of ‘proof
ifi this céée and that brings me to & fector which I think
diffinguishes thls present case from both the Manchedter
Candl dase &nhd Ryah v: Thomas. In both those cases the
rigHt of tiprst refusal aroBe upon the happening of some
event extrineous to any proposal of sale - in the
Manéhester Candl Cos case 1t was when it was proposed to
Uds the 1léhdbs for dock purposes and in Ryan ¥. Thomas it
waB that the land shodld be designéted for the purposes
of a deiry, both extremely vague concepts in themselves.
Thus the right of first refuisal might crystallize without
thefe being ahy other possible purchaser in the back-
groind and thldg would give rise to the difficulties men=-
tioied by thelt Lordships: there would be ho machinery
by which the price was to be ascertained except under

the "fair ahd reasonable" approach.

5 * The meaning of the present clause, as interpret-
ed by the learned Chief Justice, 1s quite different.
Théere 1s no extrancous event ahd everything is centred
Upoh the possibility that Mitlal would wish to sell the
property. What he undertook to do was not to sell it
‘8t Bhy prige without first offering it to Ram Kissun
~ht the proposed price.. That might occagion practical
~difficulties in Mitlal's negotiations with a prospective
~Buyer but he chose to make clause 7 part of his bargain
“"with Ram Kissun and must accept the difficulty. One of
the two alternatives considered in the Manchester Canal
_Co: cdce 1is eliminated because there was no obligation
‘to itake a "fair and reasonable' offer at any stage;
- exéept in the sense that what someone elsc is prepared
to pay tmay be an indication of what is fair and resson-
able; that question does not arise. If Mitlal at any
stage 6ffeted to sell to Ram Kissun at a certain price
and the offer was refused Mitlal would no doubt be at
1iberty to sell to anyone else at that price or more -
~ but not at a lower figure without a prior offer to Ram
{isdiin at that figure.

Apart from the two cases mentioned thete appears
to be 1ittle direct authority on this question. There
are a number of cases in which the right of pre-emption
arose by statute but in those the price was to bec settled
by arbitration. The meaning of "first refusal'" was
discussed in an Australian case Woodroffe v. Box (1954)
A.L:R; L47hi the f6llowing is taken from the Australian
Digest; 195L; Col: 95 ~
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SiThe term 'first refusal® which occurs in
. . sugh phrases as 'have the first rcfusal'
y.... 'give the first refusal! 'have the right
of first refusal' ctc, is not a technical
term; it is a colloguial term of fairly
flexible import. A merc promise to give
the first refusal should be taken prima
facie as conferring no more than a prc-
emptive right. The whole burden of justi-
fying this interpretation rests on the
word 'first'.,"

A similar meaning was attached to the phrasc 'first option'’
in a case mentioned in the American publication "Words and
. Phrades" (3rd scries) where it is stated -

"Where a lease provided that should the
lessors desire to sell the property, the
tenant should have the 'first option' to
purchase, the words 'first option' indi-
cate that, if the lessors should desirc to
sell the property to any person during
the term, they should give the tenant
the opportunity of taking the property
on the same terms, and, where an acccpt-
able offer is made, the tenant should
be given his chance to purchase:
Jorgenscn v, Morris 185 N.Y.S. 386, 387:
194 App. Div., 92."

I do not consider that Ryan v. Thomas is to be
taken as authority for the statement that every case of
a right of pre-emption apart from statute is to be regard-
ed as void for uncertainty unless a price is stated.
On the interpretation placed upon clause 7 by the learned
Chief Justice Ram Kissun was cntitled to have the pro-
perty offered to him at £1400 before Mitlal closed with
Fong Lec and I find myself in agreement with the learncd
Chief Justice that the maxim "id ccrtum est quod certum
reddi potest" applied in the circumstances of the present
case.

The next submission is that clause 7 of the 1957

agreement is void as infringing the rule against perpet-

~uitles. On this point I have no reason to doubt that
the case of Hutton v. Watling (1947) 2 All E.R. 6u4i,
correctly summarisces the effect of the authorities in
rclation to an option to purchasec. The reasoning would
apply equally, if not a_fortiori to a contract of prec-
emption. Jenkins, J. whosc judgment it was, said that
the state of '‘the authorities was not wholly satisfacte -r:
he considercd London & South Western Railway Company V.
gomm (1882) 29 Ch.D, 562 and South Bastern Railway
Company v, Associated Portland Cement Manufacturers
(1910) 1 Ch. 12 in detail and found {at p.6L5 of the
report)} that the latter provided clear authority:

s s

"... to the effcct that an option to pur-
chase land without 1limit as regards time
is specifically cnforceablc as a matter
of personal contract aganinst the original
grantor of the option and that the rule
against perpetuities has no rclevance to
such a casce as distinct from o case in

11, 44’
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&“which such an. option is sought to be cn-
roreed: againgt. some successor in title of

' uthe original grantor, not by virtue of
any contractual obligation on the part of
the successor in title; but by virtue of
the equitable interest in the land con-
ferred on the grantee by the option agrece-
fient, ;"

Hutton v. Watling went to the Court of Appeal
(sae (19&8) 1 A11 E.R. 803§ but not on the point of the
perpetulty rule; the appenal was dismissed. In his judg-
meht in thée court of first instance Jenkins, J. referred
to the fact that the correctness of the decision in the
A#8dcinted Portland Cement Manufacturcrs case (supra)

had been doubted in Williams on Vendor and Purchager
(bth Edan,) Vol. {1 p.L2L and Gray on Perpetuities (Lth
Edn; ) 366-7: Jenkins; J: gave his rcasons for consider-
ing the ddibts 111 founded. Those rcadons arc reproduc-
ed id Cheshires Modern Real Property (7th Edn.) 298 which
gquotes Hutton vi Watling as authority for the proposi-
tloh of law it purports to decide, as also doee 'The
Rule against Perpetuitics" by Morris & Loach (2nd Edn.)
221, None of the authorities quoted is in any strict
sense binding on thils Court but I see nb reason to come
to 4 differcent cohclubion and respectfully agree with

the judgment of the learncd Chief Justice that clause 7,
ald between the immediate parties, can be relied upon
without regard to the rule against perpetuities.

I now gpproach the problem of what rclief
should be granted and to which party, on the basis that
Rom Kissun had a valid right of pre-emption and Fong Leec
a valiad contract. It is hardly necessary to add that the
right of pre-emption was a contractual right no less than
that of Fohg Lece, I am in some doubt as to what the
letrned Chief Justicc meant when he said that the maxim
which he quoted as "potior in tempore, potior in jure dia
ot apply. The effect of the final decision was in fact
to give Ram Kissun specific enforcement, not, of course,
of ahy agreemcnt fdr sale, as none cxisted but of his
cohtractual rightto pre-emption (leaving Fong Lee to re~
sort to damages) and the only reason for preferring Ram
Kissun was that he was first in time. It is probable
that what the learned Chief Justice had in mind was
that the maxim refers to equitable estates while he was
applying rules evolved in rclation to the discretion to
grant specific performance, such as that in Willmott v.
Barker (1880) 15 Ch.D, 96, though the result was thc same
a8 1f the maxim had becn npplied

: Spccifically, in this phasc of the case, the

“leathod Chief Jugtdce followed the course taken in
Manchester Ship Canal Company v. Manchester Racecoursc
Company (suprag I have alrcady referrcd to the judg-
meht in that case, but thc baglc facts were that the
Canal Company had, in respcct of certaln land, a right
of first refusal or prec-cmption against the Racecourse
Company, and the latter, without making an offer to scll
it to the Canal Company at a commensuratc or fair and
reasonable price; apgreed to sell the land tc the Trafford
Park . Company . It was held (all thrce companies being
parties to the action) that thc "first refusal" involved
a negative contract not to. part with- the land to any

A5
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other company or person without giving that first rcfusal,
That negative contract was cnforced by injunction. The
difference between that cate and this, as has been point-
ed out, is that the Trafford Park Compony had full know-
ledge of the right of first refusal and Fong Lcee did not.
The learned Chicf Justice did not consgider this differ-
cnce material.

On that question there is much that is helpful
in the case of Morland v, Hales and Somcrville (1911
30 N,Z.LiR: 201, decided by the Court of Appcal of New
-Zealand. The fncts in essence were thoat M. held an
6ptidn ‘for valuable considcration from H, to purchase
a plece of land at a stated price, velid for tcn days,
During the currency of the option, H., under the impres-
sion that M, had abandoned his option, agreed to scll
the property to 8, Then, still within the 10 day
period, M. exercised his option, The court held that
the option created an interest in land and the holder
had a superior equity to thot of 8. and was entitled as
bectween himscélf and 8. to specific performance of his
coentract. Williams, J., onc of the mcmber of the
Court, held further that cven if no intercest in land
passed to the holdcr of the option, yet the option was
a contract affcecting the land which the court would
enforce in priority to the subscquent contract with B. {

' In his judgment wWilllams, J. considered in
detail London & South Western Railway Company v. Gomm
(supra), thc South Eastcrn Railwoy Company v. Associated
Portland Cemcnt Manufacturcrs (supra) and thc Manchester
Ship Canal Company v. Manchcster Racecourse Company
(supra). In relation to thc last-mcntioncd case
Williams; J. said, at p.210:

"As the Trafford Park Company could not have

, . Obtained a decreec for specific performance

" of their contract for purchase, and as the

carrying-out of that contract would be a
breach of a prior contract by the vendor
affeccting the land in equity,; the Court re-
gstraincd the carrying-out of the contract.
The effect of that decision was that the
right of rcecfusal the canal company origin-
ally had was prescrved to them in its in-
tegrity."

At p.211-2 he said:

"I do not think that eithecr in Lumley v.

Wagner 1 DeG, M. & G, 604 or in the

Manchester case it was an essential ele-

ment for the succcss of the plaintiff that {
the third person with whom the subsequent

contract was entered into sheuld have had

at the time he cntercd into it knowledge

of the first contract, or that the Court

in the Manchestcr case intcended to base

its judgment on that circumstance., In

the Manchestcr casc, as in the present,

although an interest in the land may not S
have passed, there was an equity attaching

to the land. Wherc therc is an cquity

relating to the land which binds the owner
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"of the land, there is an equity attaching
to the land. ‘Equity acts in personam.

It was contended that the contract for sale
vested an equitable estate in the purchaser,
arid that the purchaser was entitled to hold
the estdte discharged from all equities
which existed at the time of his contract
but .of the existence of which he was then

unaware., 1 do not think this 1s so. Mr.
Dart (Vendor and Purchaser (7th Edn.) 288)
saysé

b1t 15 sometimes stated in general
termd that by the contract the pur-
chaédr becomes in equity thé dwner

of the property; but this rule
applies only abs between the parties
t6 the contract, and cannot be ex-
tended so as to affect the interests
of others. If it could, a contract

" for the purchase of an equitable es-
tdte would be equivalent to a convey~
ance of it. Before the contract is
carried into effect the purchaser can-
not, as against a stranger to the
contract, enforce equities attaching
to the property.'

Where there is an equity as distinguished
from an equitable estate, and the owner of
the land contracts to sell in derogation of
that equity, the purchaser can only protect
himgelf if he completes his purchase without
notice of the equity. As was saifl by Lord
Westbury in Phillips v. Phillips U DeG. F. &
J. at p.,218:

'Where there are circumstahces which

. give rise to an equity as distinguish-
ed from an equitable estate, as, for
example, an cequity to set asidc¢ a deed
for fraud or rcctify it for mistake,
the plea of purchase for valuable con-
slderation without notice is a good
defence.;

"It is abundantly clear that, although a pur-
chascr at the timc he makes his contract is
unaware of a prior eguity, yet, if hc has
notice before he pays the whole of his pur-
chase-money, he is bound in the same manner
as 1f he had notice before the contract:
Kerr on Fraud 3rd Edn: p.331; Story's Equity
Jurisprudence 13th Edn. p.63, para. 6U(c);
Fitzgerald v. Burk 2 Atk. 397; Story v.
Lord Windsor 2 Atk. 630; Hardingham v.
Nicholls, 3 Atk. 30L; No case can be found
whers this principle has ever been called

in question," : '

That passage suvports the opinion of the learneéd Chief
Justice in the present case that the absence of knowledge
on the part of Fong Lee of the earlier contract was not
material, For completeness I would add that while the
findirig of the court in Morland v.. Hales and Soméb¥ille
(sUpra% was that a valid option at a fixed price passed an
interest in land, a mere right of pre-emption, in the sense
of first refusal, did not,. Williams, J. at p. 208 said:
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"The distinctinon heotween the above case
(i.e. the Manchester Canal case) and a
simple option %o purchasc is clecar. In
the former case the vendor is under no

. obligation to sell at all. The only
effect of the right of pre-emption 1is
that the vendor, if he does sell, must
give the owner of the right the oppor-
tunity of buying at the same price at
which the vendor proposes to sell to a
third party: sec Dart on Vendor and

“Purchaser (7th Bdan.) at p.275, Whether
there shall be a sale or not, and the
price at which the lard is to be sold,
rests with the vendor. In the case of
an option for valuablc consideration to
purchase at a named price, the matter is
altogether out of the vendor's hands,
and it rests with the holder of the option
glone whether he will cexercise the right
to purchase the lands which the option
gives him, The holder of the option has
a vested right to take thce land from the
owner without his consent. It is diffi-
cult, on the one hand, to see how an
interest in land could pass to a third
person under a contract which does not
compel the owner of the land to sell at
all unless he chooscs; and, on the other,
how 1t could not pass where there is an
absolute right to purchase; and it rests
entirely with the owner of that right to
decide whether he will purchase."

There is yet onc more passage in this very compre-
hensive judgment of Williams, J. which has relcvance to
the present circumstances. It appcars at pp.208-9:

"If an intcrest in the land passed in

the present case by virtue of the option,
the estate in equity, which passed to
Somecrville under his contract with the
syndicate, would necessarily be subject
to that interest. Somerville cannot
claim as a purchaser for value without
notice, 5s his contract has not been
completcd by payment of the purchase-
monecy and a conveyance of the legal eg-
tate. The appellant, therefore, if he
properly exercised an option which he
had not ahandoned, would be entitled to
spceific performance of the contract
which his exercise of the option created.”

Following what is oxpressed there and in the last
portion of the quotation from pages 211-2 of the judgment
of Williams, J. I take the view that Fong Lee could not
claim to be a purchaser for valuc without notice, as he
had not become the registcred proprietor of the leasehold,
the equivalent under the Torrens System of getting a con-
veyance of the legal estate. TFFurther support for this
proposition is to be found in Cheshire's Modern Recal
Property (7th Edn.) p.61:
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.~ "THe one person, therefore, whose con-
o .+ - Bélehce: was uhaffected and against whom
daoronh the equitable estate became unenforce-
. F -+, dble, was the purchaser for value of the
<lega1 estate without notice of the rights
" of the cestui que use,

The matter must, however, be taken a step further.
The requircment fhat Fong Lec had to become the registered
proprietor before he could successfully rcly on a plea of
purchaser for value without notice applies only if Ram
Kigsun's right amounted to an equitable intercst in land.
1f he had #o more thah what ig called a mere equity (see
Snell on Equity 25th Edn. pi18) Fong Lee's interest would
prevall; eveh though he did not obtain the legal estate,
providéd he was the purchaser for value of ah eguitable
intsrest withou$ notice: .Snall on Equity (op. cit:) P.18
PR1111ps vi Phillips (1861) 4 Dec. F. & ¢i 208 at 215-218
Cave v, Cave (1880 45 ch.\D, 639, The learned Chief
Justice considered; but without enlarging on the topic,
tHat this Wae not & case of ¥ong Lee being a bona fide
purchaser for value of an equitable interest without
notice.of the equity. I have been in some doubt on the
question. Certainly Fong Lee acquired an equitable
interest as soon as he agreed to buy the leasechold. But
was he a purchaser ''for value" before he received notice
of Ram Kissun's cldim? The facts found were that he had
natice; after signing the agreement, but before his son
went to Suva on the 3rd September 1963, to lodge a caveat
and obtaln the necessary consent, Paragraph 2 of the
agreement of the 30th August, 1963, indi cates that the
putchase money was paid to the solicitor to be held in
trust pending the consent being obtained. Before that
happened therefore, Fong Lee had notice, whic¢h he admitted
in his pleddings to be notice of an option to purchase.
He also pleaded tHat on the Lth September, 1963, Mitlal
refused to sell and purported to treat the agreement as
null and void so there can be no doubt that the purchase
mongy remaihed available for Fong Lee 1f he was prepared
to take it, - i

e wa

I do not. think that in the circumstances Fong
L.ee had parted with his money in = sense which made him
a purchﬂscr for value, before he received notice, parti-
cularly a8 it was through efforts made on his behalf after
he received notice, that the necessary conserit was forth-
coming, In a sense the money was securcd to- Mitlal by
teing held by the solicitor as stakeholder, bit it was
decided in Hardingham v, Nicholls (1745) 3 Atk. 304 that
security for payment glven before notice was not enough;
there must be actual payment. I conclude therefore,
though not without hesitation, that a plea of purchase
for value without notice cannot be supported on any
ground.

. That being my opinion I do not find any ground
1 for holding that the learned Chief Justice erred when he
i treated the matter, not as a caose of competing equities,
but on a purely contractual basis, and applied the prin-
ciples 1laid down in the Manchester Canal Co. case which
were followed in Morland v. Hales. I respectfully agree
with the conclusions he arrived at on that aspect of the
case and it remains only to conslder the argumcnts based
on the fallure of Ram Kissun to protect his rights under
clause 7 of the agrcement of February, 1957, by register-
ing a caveat; ,
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, T will assume for the purpose of discussiog that
Kissun had what is called a "caveatable intergst by
am of that clause. The facts rclevant to this part
irtue case arce that Ram Kissuh} between February 1957,
f ﬂ%ge ‘date of Fong Lee's agrcecement did not lodge a caveat:
Lee made no search of the title before entering into
reement, though his son may have done so before
g Fong Lee's caveat. In Abigail v, Lapin (1934)
the Privy Council described, at p.500 the sydtem
.egistration in force in Australia, which 1s similar
gha{‘: ih Fiji.  Having said that no notice of trusts
50 e entered in the register book their Lordships con-
may, 4 bHEt 1t has lohg been held that equitable claims
f:iguintefests are recognised and -

A
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Yfor the protection of such equitable
interests or estates, the Act provides
that a caveat may be lodged with the
registrar by any person clalming as
cestul que trust, or under any unreg-
istered instrument or any other estate
or Iinterest; the effect of the caveat
is that no instrument will be register-
&d while the caveat 1s in force affect~
ing the land, estate or interest until
after a certain notice to the person
lodging the caveat. Thus, though the
‘legal -interest is in general determined
by the registered transfer, and is in
1aw subject only to reglstered mortgages
or other charges, the register may bear
on its face a notice of equitable claims,
so as to warn persons dealing in respect
of the 1land and to enable the equitable
clalmant to protect his claim by enabling
him to bring an action if his claim be
disputed. "

As to the position where there are conflicting
equities the maxim Qui prior est tempore potior est jure
applies unless "that which is rclied on to take away the
pre—existing equitable title can be shown to be something
tangible and distinct having grave and strong effect to

ac‘comglish the purpose' -~ see Abigail v, Lapin (supra, at

P50l To overcome the priority in time rule the
later equity must be what has often been called a
Wguperior! eguity and; as 1t was put in Abigail v. Lapin,
at p.soL -

v ... the test for ascertaining which
incumbrancer has the better equity must
be whether either has been guilty of
some act or default which prejudices his
claim."

‘The essential facts in Abigail v. Lapin were that register-
ed proprietors of land transferred the same in December,
1923, +to a second party, by way of absolute transfer though
the real nature of the transaction was one of mortgage.

The second party became the registered proprietor and in
September, 1925, mortgaged the land to a third party, but
the mortgage was not registered; the third party had no
notice of the pridr equitable interest of the original
ownersg but had not searched the title, The original owners

’

—_——
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. hgd lodged no caveat, The Privy Council found that the
"squity of the third party prevailed, because the original
owherd had #rmed the Becond party with power to deal with
the lard ag ownep, The majority judgment of the High
gourt of Australid was reversed: that judgment had pro-
ceesded largely upon the view that the absence of a caveat
by the original owners can have had no effect in inducing
the third party to lend the money because no search had
beeh made. The Privy Council thought that the majority
of the High Court might have taken the view that there
must be something in the nature of a direct representa-
tioh by the original owner to the third party. To this
sheir Lordships eaid, at p. 507:

"It is true that in cases of conflicting
equities the decision 1s often expressed
to turn on representations made by the
party postponed, as for instance in King
v. King (1931) 2 Ch, 294. But it is
geldom that the conduct of the person
whose eduity is postponed takes or can

~take the form of a direct representation
to the person whose equity is preferred:
the actual representation ig in general,
as in the present cage, by the thiprd
party, who has been placed by the conduct
of the party postponed in a position to
make theé representation, most often, ag
here, because that party has vested in
him a legal estate or has given him the
ihdicia of a legal estate in excess of
the interest which he was entitled in

‘ : fact to have, so that he has in consequelcs
* been ehiabled to enter into the transactioh
with the third party on the faith of his .
poBdegsinig the larger estate., Such 1is°
the position here, which in their Lord-
thips' judgment entitles the appellants
to succeed in this appeal." - :

b In their judgment their Lordships referred to
.Butler v, Fairclough (1917) 23 C;L.R. 78 and it is necess-—
ary to look at that case. On the 30th June; 1915, G., the
registered proprietor of a leasé, agreed to charge it to
the plaintifr, On the 2nd July, 1915, G. agreed to sell
thé leade to the defendaht and on the same day the consid-
eration wAs pald and a transfer executed. Before paying
the conslderatioh the defendant causcd & search of the
title to be made and found no noticec of the plaintiff's
charge -~ no caveat having been lodged at that stage.
The defendsnt had in fact no notice, express or impligd,
of the exi&terice of that charge. The plaintiff lodged
caveat before the deéfendant's transfer was lodged for
registration, but in very unusual circumstances it was
later registered without fraud on the defendant's part,
Thia fact, I think, played a major part in the decision
of the majority of the High Codrt of Australia, but it
wag the aspect of the judgment in recldation to the priori-
tlies between equities which was considered by the Privy
Council in Abigaill v, Lapin, and stated to have been
rightly decided. .

In Butler v, Fairclough, Griffiths, C.J., treat-
ed the problem as being whether the plaintiff having ac-
quited his equitable right took or failed to take all
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reasonable steps to prevent ¢. from dezling with the land é;iQ
without notice of the plaintiff's title. He considered

that he had not, was unable to draw any lLine ns to the t inii
within which a caveat should be lodged, and said that a

person who does not act promptly lases the advantage which

he would have gainecd through oromptitude, Isaacs, J. sald

(at p. 97) -

“"In my o2pinion, in the abgsence of some
clear explunation justifying or excusing
this failure it is one which; at all
events in so simple a casc as on equit-
able mortgage, postponcs the mortgagee
to the person bona fide misled hy the
result of a search as in thc present
casea, The protcction given by the Act
to an unregistered and, perhape, unrcgls-
trable transaction is coupled with the
price of diligencce in guarding othcrs
against loss arising through ignorance
of the transaction.” '

In addition to stating that they considered
Butler v. Fairclough was riphtly decided their Lordships
in Abigail v. Lapin said that the only distinction betwecn
the two cases was that Abigail was not proved to have made
any search belfore lending the money. They went on to hold
that in Abigail's case the sbaence of a search was not
material. I do not understand that the true meaning of
their Lordships in so holding was thnt the absence of a
search is never matcrial, It was certainly held to be
material in Butler v. Fairclough which thcir Lordships
held was rightly decided, and I would make bold to say
that had no search been made in that case (which already
appears to place upon the holder of the earlier equity a
requiremcnt of prompbtitude of the highest degree) Butler
v, Fairclough would have becen differcntly decided. On
thie question, in Abigail's casc their Lordships rcferred
also to the New Zealand case Honeybonc v, National Bank
of N,7Z, Ltd. (1890) N,Z.L.R, 102 in which the facls were
very gimilar, in that the truc owner of land had enabled
another to obtain z registcecred title and thereby to hold
himself out as full owner and so to morigage the property.
Their Lordshipa observed that no guestion was ralsed in
that case whether the sccond incumbrancer {(the bank) made
any search or lnquiries. It is in fact an open question
whether the bank did cause the title to be searched but
there is a clear indication in the judgment of Denniston,
J. {at p.105) that hec would have considered a search by the
true owner at a certain stage of the cvents as a material
Tactor.

My understanding of this aspcct of Abigail's
cafe is that it holds; that on facts such as were belng
considered and which also obtained in the Honeybone cage;
a search was not material. I apprehend that decision to
ariee from the fact that in ecach case a decision could bs
arrived at upon equitable prineiples without particular
tegard to the land registration legislation, and because
in both cases thc carlicr equitable incumbrancer had by
a positive act créated a feolse situntion and thereby
ennbled another to deal with the second incumbrancer on
that false basis. The difficrence between those cascs on
the one hand, and tlhic instant casc and Butler v, Fairclough
on the other is that in the latter there were no positive
acts on the part of the carlicr cquitable incumbrancers
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S«%whiﬁh changed the positioh of the true owner in mny way.
_ He was alwoys regilstered as the proprietor of the land and

did hot acquire such registration because of any act of
the carlier incumbrancers, The only way in which the posi-
tioh could be expresscd in terms of Ablgail's case 1s that
the earlier incumbrancer, by failing to register a caveat,
had enabled the registered proprictor to hold himself out
as an owner who had creatcd no equitable intercsts. But
how can that fallure have any effect on the mihd of a
later incumbrancer who does not know whetiher there 1s a
reglstered caveat or not, beccause he has not bothered to
search? It 18 truc that in Abigail's case the Privy
Council held that there necd be no direct ropresentation
from the earlicr to the subseguent incumbrancer where the
act of the earlier had cnabled another to cloth himself
with the indicia of title and so make the representation,
but there was no such cnabling act in the present caze.

It seems to me that, where the only failure on the patt
of the ong arises out of m neglect to take advantake of
machinery provided by the land rcgistration legislation,

heglect by the other to scarch the title is equally a

failure to take advantage of the ssme machinery and it

. would be difficult to separate the degrees of culpability
‘or hegligence of the two parties. Certainly oh ah attempt-

» £d balahce of the two I would not =may it was weighed down
fid?crsely to the earlier incumbrancer by '"something tang-

ble and distinct, having grave and strong effect to
accomplish the purpose”.

o For the rcasons I have given, 1if the intetrests
of Hah Kislun nhd Fohg Lee were regarded as competing

" equitahle interests, I do not consider that in the cifrcum-

stdfices the faillife of Ram Kissun to caveat was suffic¢ient
to alapilacdé the effect of the maxim guli prior cat tempore
bofibg sgt Jure. Had Fong Lec searchcd the reglster
befotre entering into his agrecment and found no caveat I
would have been of the contrary opinion. I am aware

that in certain Canadian cases much greater effcct has

“been given to the registration of a caveat than has becn

"the case in Australia or New Zealand. For example, in

Clark v Barrick (1950) 1 D.L.R. 260 an cquitable intcrest
protected by a caveat was held to precv:il over an earlier
equitable interest the caveat in respect of which was
lodged later to the onc first mentioned; no party had
acted other than innocently. That decislon scems to have
beeh influenced by a differcnt approach to the position of
equitable cstates under the Canadlan legislation, =nd to
amount to saying that rcgistration of a caveat will of
iteelf confer priority. That has not been the case in
Australia or New Zealand and was not urged in Abigail's
cage, In a comparatively recent case, Miller v, Minister
of Mines (1963) 1 A1l E,R, 109, the Privy Council said,

.n relation to New Zecaland legislation, which is similar

"in thils respect to that of Fiji (pp.112-3) -

"The caveat procedure is an interim pro-
cedure designed to freeze the position
until an opportunity has been given to
a person.claimling a right under an un-
registered instrument to regularise the
position by rcgistering the instrument.”

It ?as not been claimed in the present casc that Fong
Lee's caveat of itself afforded him any priority.
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I have discussed the last question on the assumcd
bgsis that Ram Kissun had by virtuc of clausec 7, an inter-
est in land. This approach secmcd nccessary becausc if
on. that basis Fong Lege's interest would have prevalled in
the abscnce of a caveat, it would be difficult to deny him
specific performance if Ram Kissun's intcrest were in fact
less than an interest in land and not such as to entitle
him to lodge a caveat. It would havc appeared paradoxi-
cal that a mere equity should prevoil in Ram Kissun's
favour whcre a full equitable intercst would not. On the
view I have exprecssed, that positlorn docs not arise. It
emerges with some clarity, however, from the Manchcster
Canal Case (suprn) and Morland v. Halcs (supra) that Ran
Kissun's right of preo-emption did not in fact give rise to
an intecrest in land and was thercforec not caveatable: (sec
Adams' Land Transfer Act (1958) pp. 297-301 and Staopges &
Co. v. Corlcy & D.L.R. (1900) 19 W.Z.L.R. 517 at 536-7).
On this basis TFong Lee's failure to search the title was im-
material but Ram Kissun was guilty of no default in failing
to lcdge a caveat, as he had no caveatsble interest. (For
the purpose of the argument I think the fact that the Land
Office, at a later stage, did not rcject a caveat is im-
matcrial). The resulting position is that the rights of
Ram Kissun and Fong Lee all to be decided without regard
to the Land (Transfcr and Registration) Ordinance (Cap.136)
which was the approsch adopted by the lcearned Chief Justice.

To summarize my conclusions, I agrec that Ram
Kissun's right is not too uncertain to be cenforccable,
that "it is not void by reason of thc rule against perpetui-
ties, that Fong Leec cannot validly claim to be a purchaser
for valuc without notice and that hec can derive no assist-
ance from the fact thet Ram Kissun dld not register a
caveat when his right arosc. In the result the learned
Chief Justice was entitled, in my judgment, to apply, so
far as the circumstances would allow, the principles of
the Manchester Canal Company case. {

I would therefore dismiss the appeal with costs.

T,J. GOULD !

JUDGE OF APPEAL.

SUVA,
14th January, 1966,




